5/2 6-6-89

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner filed an application for licensure as a medical doctor in the State of Florida dated January 29, 1986, and received by the Board of Medical Examiners (Board) on February 3, 1986.

The record reflects that in the course of his personal appearance before the Board in August of 1986, it was indicated that the Board had received several evaluations of training with respect to the Petitioner; two from 1983 to 1984 characterized by the Executive Director of the Board as "less-than-favorable," and the evaluation from his then most recent training recommending him as "qualified and competent." (R-84, 85) Petitioner indicated his willingness to respond to any questions that the Board might wish to put to him. (R-85) The Board noted at that time that Petitioner's CV shows an excellent record, and he was characterized by another Board member as "obviously a super achiever." (R-94)

At that time, Petitioner agreed to waive the Board's ruling on his application until the Board's next meeting. (R-98) The Board indicated that it would request further information from Petitioner's last residency training.

At the Board's next meeting in October, Petitioner was represented by counsel, who explained that Petitioner was practicing medicine in Pennsylvania and was unable to be present at the meeting due to scheduling problems, as he had

been working at that job for only two weeks (R-105). Counsel for Petitioner asked whether he could answer any of the Board's questions relating to Petitioner's application; in the alternative, he suggested that Petitioner might be in a better position to arrange to attend the December meeting without jeopardizing the job he was currently holding. (R-107)

As of January 30, 1987, Petitioner had received no indication as to the date and location of the next meeting. This gave rise to more difficulties regarding Petitioner's being able to leave his present job and come to Florida. Therefore, by letter dated January 30, 1987, Petitioner respectfully withdrew his application from consideration.

A follow up letter from his counsel, dated February 3, 1987, indicated that the matter of Petitioner's application be removed from the agenda of the upcoming Board meeting, and indicated that when Petitioner's professional obligations would permit him to do so, he would consider resubmitting his application anew. (R-117)

At a meeting of the Board of Medicine on February 8, 1987, when asked by a Board member whether Petitioner's record would be available if he were to reapply in the future, counsel to the Board replied that records of everything that had transpired would be available to the Board if it so desired. (R-123) Nonetheless, the Board ignored the withdrawal and carried a motion to deny the application and

retain jurisdiction until the next meeting in April in case Petitioner could show and answer the Board's questions.

Prior to the entry of an order reflecting the Board's action and prior to the April meeting, this action for injunctive relief was filed.

After a hearing held on March 25, 1987, the trial court granted a preliminary injunction enjoining Respondent from refusing to allow the Petitioner to withdraw his application licensure, from requiring for him to appear, and from otherwise taking action on his application for licensure. (R-35-36) Subsequently, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss (R-57-58) and a Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Injunctive Relief and in Support of Motion to Dismiss (R-66-138). Petitioner filed a Response to the Motion to Dismiss (R-61-65) and two memoranda of Law in Support of Injunctive Relief (R-27-34, 144-152). Respondent filed a Reply to the Response to Motion to Dismiss. (R-139-143) After another hearing which was held on May 28, 1987, the trial court issued a final order permanently enjoining the Respondent from acting on the aforesaid application and allowing Petitioner to withdraw his application without prejudice to apply for licensure in the future. (R-326-328).

Respondent herein filed an appeal in the First District Court of Appeal on September 21, 1987 (First DCA). Subsequently, both parties filed their initial and reply and

answer briefs. The First DCA issued an opinion on September 15, 1988, reversing and remanding the case back to the Respondent Board. The Petitioner filed a Motion for Rehearing and the Respondent filed a Response to Petitioner's Motion for Rehearing. The First DCA, in acting on the motion for rehearing, withdrew its opinion of September 15, 1988, and entered an opinion on November 18, 1988, clarifying its position, cited as <u>Fla. State Board of Medicine v. Marrero</u>, 536 So.2d 1094 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). It is from the First DCA's opinion that this appeal was filed.

Notice of Intent to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was filed on December 5, 1988. Petitioner filed in the First DCA a Motion for Stay pending appeal which was denied on December 8, 1988. Petitioner then filed a Motion for Review of the First DCA order denying stay pending appeal, which was granted by this Honorable Court on December 20, 1988.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner has an absolute right to withdraw without court approval his voluntarily submitted application for licensure. Having done so, the Board was without jurisdiction to enter an order denying his application or to vote to retain jurisdiction until the April meeting. Petitioner was not subject to the jurisdiction of the Board until he submitted his application, hence, his withdrawal divests the agency of jurisdiction. Several Florida cases have so held. The Florida Rules of Civil Procedure and the common law have held that a plaintiff has a right to take a voluntary dismissal up to the time the trier of In this case, the Board was still fact retires to deliberate. gathering information and had not begun deliberations. Hence, Petitioner was within his absolute right to withdraw his application and terminate jurisdiction over this matter. The subject Board's disciplinary Petitioner is not to the jurisdiction, the Board has no cause to discipline so Petitioner.

Additionally, the Board concedes it has no express authority to permit or deny the Petitioner's withdrawal. It is relying on its purported implied authority. However, a state agency is limited to the power which is expressly granted it. Any time the agency acts outside that delegated authority, it is acting illegally, as it has done here.

Nor is the asserted power to refuse an applicant the right to withdraw an application indispensible to the authority to grant or deny applications for licensure.

While the general principle is that administrative remedies must be exhausted prior to resorting to the courts, an exception lies where the remedy would be too little or too late. The lack of jurisdiction is a widely recognized exception to the exhaustion of administrative remedies doctrine. Here, Petitioner has offered persuasive grounds in alleging the Board's lack of jurisdiction. Any remedy offered through the administrative forum would not put Petitioner back in the position he was in before the improper actions of the Board. The Board was without jurisdiction. Exhaustive, expensively, administrative remedies cannot vest the Board with jurisdiction and is, stricto sensu, irrelevant to Board jurisdiction vel non. Any subsequent actions would also be without jurisdiction. The First DCA indicated that Petitioner could petition for a declaratory statement from the agency if the only question was the Board's jurisdiction. A declaratory statement is not proper in this situation because the Board has already committed a There is no "potential" action remaining, hence the wrong. purpose and availability of a declaratory statement no longer stands. Petitioner will just end up back before the courts. Respondent Board has acted arbitrarily and capriciously and therefore Petitioner must not wait to exhaust his administrative

remedies. His license has been denied not based on any of the Petitioner's qualifications but rather on the fact that he didn't show up. The Petitioner will be hurt by this action since it will cause other states and hospitals, and employers, etc. to question the Petitioner's qualifications, when, in fact, Petitioner is a highly-qualified physician. Any administrative remedy would be wholly inadequate in this case, therefore, Petitioner was correct in seeking equitable relief.

The equitable relief granted by the trial court was entirely proper because there was a clear legal right. An adequate remedy is unavailable at law. Petitioner will suffer irreparable harm and the public interests are not compromised. Absent a showing that the trial court abused its discretion in granting the injunction, the appellate court should not have disturbed the injunction. There has been no such showing of clear abuse of discretion. The injunction should remain standing.

.7

ARGUMENT

I

THE FIRST DCA ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THAT THE BOARD OF MEDICINE RETAINED JURISDICTION OVER THIS MATTER AFTER THE PETITIONER VOLUNTARILY WITHDREW HIS LICENSURE APPLICATION.

The court below wrongfully reversed and remanded the Circuit Court's permanent injunction of the Board of Medicine from acting further on Petitioner's licensure application since Petitioner had voluntarily withdrawn his application and thereby divested the agency of further jurisdiction to deny withdrawal or to deny the application.

a. Petitioner has an absolute right to withdraw his voluntarily submitted licensure application analogous to the right of a civil plaintiff to take a voluntary dismissal.

The right of the Petitioner to withdraw his application is analogous to the unqualified right of a plaintiff to voluntarily dismiss a complaint in a civil action. In actions in the lower tribunals, Respondents have also likened this proceeding to the plaintiff's right of dismissal in civil cases. Rule 1.420(a)(1), Fla. R. Civ. P., states, in pertinent part:

An action may be dismissed by the plaintiff without order of court (i) before trial by serving, or during trial by stating on the record, a notice of dismissal at any time before a hearing on motion for summary judgment, or if none is served or if the motion is denied, before retirement of the jury in a case tried before a jury or before submission of a nonjury case to the court for decision. [emphasis added]

The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure also provide that an action may be dismissed by the plaintiff without an order of the court by filing a notice or stipulation of dismissal. Fed. R. Civ. P. 41(a)(2). [The purpose of the rule is to facilitate voluntary dismissals, but to limit them to early stages of the proceedings. The Second Circuit emphasized the advanced stage of the proceedings in Harvey Aluminum, Inc. v. American Cyanamid Co., 203 F.2d 105 (2d Cir.), cert. den. 345 U.S. 964 (1953), in denying a dismissal where the court had already had several days of argument and testimony and a 420-page record.] In Jones v. S.E.C., 298 U.S. 1 (1936), the Petitioner was granted injunctive relief prohibiting the commission from refusing to allow Jones' formal withdrawal of his application for registration, notwithstanding the fact that the commission had fixed a time for hearing on some concerns it had about misstatements and omissions of facts in Jones' registration statement and had notified Jones that he was ordered to appear. The United States Supreme Court upheld Jones' unilateral right to withdraw his application regardless of a Commission rule which stated "Any registration statement or amendment thereto may be withdrawn on the request of the registrant if the Commission consents thereto," and likened an individual's voluntarily withdraw perogative to an application to а constitutional right or privilege, wherein an individual's constitutional rights would be upheld over the government

becoming an autocracy. The Court says that the plaintiff possessed this unqualified right to dismiss "unless some plain legal prejudice will result to the defendant other than the mere prospect of a second litigation upon the subject matter." Id. But the Court added that, at least absent a statute to at 19. contrary, an agency's power to refuse to dismiss a the proceeding on the motion of the one who initiated it cannot be greater than that of a court as elucidated in this fundamental principle of the judicial process. In the case at bar there is no such regulation which gives the Board the right to allow withdrawal and the Board in no way will be prejudiced by the Petitioner's absolute withdrawal of his application, since the sole purpose of the Board in regards to its licensure procedures is to ensure public safety and adequate medical services to the citizens of Florida. For the Petitioner to ever practice in Florida, he must again face the jurisdiction of the Board and just again prove with equal force that he is entitled to practice medicine in the State of Florida. The public will not be endangered where the Petitioner withdraws his licensure application. In fact, only the Petitioner is concerned with the Board's refusal to permit his withdrawal. It affects no other citizen, an issue recognized by the court in Jones v. S.E.C.

In <u>Fears v. Lunsford</u>, 314 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1975), this Court held that a plaintiff's right to take a voluntary dismissal is <u>absolute</u>. "Moreover, the trial court has no discretion in granting or denying such a dismissal by the

plaintiff." State Dept. of Natural Resources v. Hudson Pulp and Paper Corp., 363 So.2d 822, 827 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978). "Further, [t]he effect of a voluntary dismissal is to remove completely from the court's consideration the power to enter an order, equivalent in all respects to a deprivation of 'jurisdiction.'" Romar Int'l, Inc. v. Jim Rathman Chevrolet/Cadillac, Inc., 420 So.2d 346, 347 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) (quoting Randle-Eastern Ambulance Service v. Vasta, 360 So.2d 68 (Fla. 1978). See also, Bevan v. D'Alessandro, 395 So.2d 1285 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981) (where the court held that the trial court was without jurisdiction to hear appellee's motion to dismiss after appellant's voluntary dismissal.) In Hudson Pulp, the Department of Natural Resources (DNR) filed a complaint to invoke its eminent domain power but subsequently filed and served a notice of voluntary dismissal. The respondent then filed a motion to strike the notice of dismissal and the judge thereafter entered an order against DNR. "The order further recited that jurisdiction was retained for the purpose of empaneling a jury to determine the issue of full compensation as to [Respondent's] ownership interest." Hudson Pulp, 363 So.2d at 825. An appeal was then filed. The First District Court of Appeal said that the lower court was without authority to grant or deny a dismissal. In Romar Int'l, the appellees moved for and were granted attorney's fees after the appellant gave notice of a voluntary dismissal prior to the taking of a deposition. The Fifth District Court of Appeal held

that the trial court was without jurisdiction in a matter after appellant took a voluntary dismissal and that it could not, therefore, enter <u>any order</u> in the matter. For the trial court to act, it would have to exercise a jurisdiction of which it was no longer possessed. Romar Int'1, 420 So.2d at 347-48.

In the case at bar, the Board noted that it would retain jurisdiction over the matter in case Petitioner showed up at the next Board meeting after having not been able to show at a few prior meetings. The Board was without the authority to retain jurisdiction over the matter. Additionally, it could not enter an order denying the Petitioner's application for licensure because to do so would require that the Board exercise jurisdiction over a matter no longer within its jurisdiction.

There is a very narrow exception to the general rule that the plaintiff has an absolute right to a voluntary dismissal without court order. Where a fraud is attempted by the voluntary dismissal, the court may strike the dismissal and reinstate the matter. <u>Select Builders of Fla., Inc. v. Wong</u>, 367 So.2d 1089 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979). In <u>Select Builders</u>, the court respected the exception where the plaintiff had received affirmative relief to which he was not entitled and sought to avoid correction of the trial court's error by taking a voluntary dismissal.

In the case at bar, Petitioner has received no affirmative relief from the Board. He has acknowledged that when and if he

applies to the Board again, he must go through the entire licensing procedure. Petitioner has in no way been granted any relief which would make a reappearance before the Board for licensure more successful than had he continued with the original application and not taken a voluntary withdrawal. Petitioner attempted no fraud on Respondent Board when he withdrew his application.

b. At least five DCA cases dealing with administrative law have held that once a petitioner withdraws his application, the agency is divested of jurisdiction to proceed.

Several administrative law cases have held consistent with the law in civil actions that once a plaintiff takes a voluntary dismissal or voluntary withdrawal, the agency is divested of jurisdiction to proceed.

The First DCA in Orange County v. Debra, Inc., 451 So.2d 868, 869 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), held that "the withdrawal of [a] petition divested the agency of further jurisdiction to proceed." In Debra, Debra, Inc. petitioned the Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory Commission (FLWAC) for а rule establishing a Community Development District, but withdrew its petition prior to a ruling thereon. A public hearing on the matter had already taken place with a resulting recommendation that further hearings be held before any action was taken on the Before the agency could act on the recommendations, petition. Debra, Inc. withdrew its petition. The FLWAC denied Orange

County's motion that the FLWAC should enter a final order denying the petition. The appellate court said:

We affirm the action of the FLWAC in allowing Debra, Inc. to withdraw its petition and hold that it properly declined to issue an order denying Debra, Inc.'s petition, as the withdrawal of the petition divested the agency of further jurisdiction to proceed. [emphasis added]

<u>Id</u>. at 869.

Further, the court said:

[0]nly the filing of a qualifying petition gives the agency jurisdiction to proceed. It is well established that an agency has no jurisdiction to proceed beyond that granted it by statute; it has no inherent rulemaking authority . . . Therefore, withdrawal of a . . . petition short of ruling thereon would deprive the FLWAC of jurisdiction to proceed to a final decision on the petition. . .

This is an unnecessary waste of time and effort which can be avoided if a petitioner is simply allowed to withdraw his petition prior to a ruling thereon if he no longer wants to seek a . . . rule.

Id. at 870.

The case at bar is similar to <u>Debra</u>. The Petitioner was not subject to the jurisdiction of the Board until such time as he submitted his application for licensure. His withdrawal of his application short of a ruling thereon deprived the Board of the jurisdiction to proceed since it is only upon his pending application that the Board has jurisdiction. In this case, there had been some questions asked of Petitioner, to which he had provided answers. He was to appear back before the Board, but before he had been notified of when and where the meeting was to

be held, the Petitioner voluntarily withdrew his application. In Debra, there had also been an appearance at a public hearing, yet the agency was divested of jurisdiction. The court did not find that the finder-of-fact had completely gathered its information or that it had retired to deliberate, and allowed a voluntary dismissal. In fact in the case at bar, the Respondent Board had not yet made a factual determination as to the application. Counsel for the Respondent Board stated in "Defendant's Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Injunctive Relief and In Support of Motion to Dismiss "(R-74) filed in the Circuit Court action on April 22, 1987: "it should be emphasized, the Board has not determined that Dr. Marrero is not competent to practice in Florida." Additionally, at the hearing for the injunctive relief, The Board's counsel said, "I would like to point out the Board has not stated that it's going to deny his license if he appears and presents the information." (R-43)

Since the decision in <u>Debra</u>, at least four other decisions have been consistent therewith. The First DCA in <u>Humana of</u> <u>Florida, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services</u>, 500 So.2d 186 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>rev. den.</u>, 506 So.2d 1041 (1986), cites <u>Debra</u> for the proposition that "where a petition is [voluntarily] withdrawn, agency jurisdiction ceases to exist." <u>Id.</u> at 187. <u>Humana</u> involved a petition by Halifax Hospital for a formal hearing to challenge granting of a certificate of need by the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services (HRS)

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