0176-6-89

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROGER MARRERO, M.D.,

Petitioner,

vs.

DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL REGULATION, FLORIDA STATE BOARD OF MEDICINE,

Respondent.

Case Number: 73,392
FILLED SIDE. WHITE
APR 6 1989
CLERK, SUPREME OOURE
By Deputy Clerk
IN THE MERITS

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

M. Catherine Lannon Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Suite 1602, The Capitol Tallahassee, Florida 3239-1050 (904) 488-1891

Attorney for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent urges that the Florida Supreme Court should uphold the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in Department of Professional Regulation, Florida State Board of Medicine vs. Marrero, 536 So.2d 1094 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), on the basis that the appellate court was correct in ruling that the circuit court should have granted the Motion To Dismiss a Compliant for Injunction against the Florida Board of Medicine because the Petitioner, Dr. Marrero, had failed to exhaust his administrative remedies. While Petitioner and the trial court focused on the rightfulness or wrongfulness of the Board's refusal to permit Dr. Marrero to unilaterally withdraw his application, that is not the real issue in this case. A ruling in this case by the Florida Supreme Court will have great implications for the future and viability of administrative law under Chapter 120 in Florida. If this Honorable Court affirms the District Court of Appeal's decision, then it will be clear that when there is an administrative remedy and it is an adequate remedy, a party must permit the proceedings to take place in the administrative forum and cannot run to the circuit court and interrupt the administrative process.

It is Respondent's position that the District Court of Appeal used the correct test, whether the Florida Board of Medicine acted with <u>colorable statutory authority</u> in refusing to acknowledge Dr. Marrero's attempt to withdraw his application.

- 6 -

While Respondent concedes and has conceded all along that there is no explicit statutory authority for the Board's decision not to permit Dr. Marrero to unilaterally and without action of the Board terminate his application, the Board believes that it has implied authority to do so in order to carry out the statutory scheme of Chapter 458, Florida Statutes. The Rule of Civil Procedure and case law cited by Petitioner which relies on Rule 1.420, Fla.R.Civ.P., is not applicable to the Board of Medicine. There is no rule under the Board's rules or the Model Rules of Procedure which makes Rule 1.420, Fla.R.Civ.P., applicable, in contrast to the situation for some administrative entities which have adopted a rule making the Rules of Civil Procedure applicable. Absent a rule, the Board believes that there is no absolute right for one party to terminate the action and that the Board can, when there has been an action taken in the nature of a personal appearance and a hearing on the application, refuse to allow unilateral decision to withdraw, as would be permissible under the corollary Federal Rules of Procedure.

Under the statutory scheme of Chapter 458, Florida Statutes, the primary purpose of the Florida Board of Medicine is to assure that every physician practicing in Florida meet minimum requirements for safe practice and that licenses not be issued to a person that the Board deems or has deemed unqualified until the board is satisfied that the person is capable of safely engaging in the practice of medicine. In Dr. Marrero's attempt to

- 7 -

withdraw his application, he affirmatively asserted that he intended to apply for licensure in Florida in the future. Since the Board has notice of some possible information relating to Dr. Marrero's ability to safely engage in the practice of medicine, it believes that it is incumbent upon the Board to pursue the matter at this time while the witnesses and evidence relating to that information would be available for the purposes of a There is case law which holds that a licensee who is hearing. under investigation cannot simply relinquish his license and thereby avoid a finding of his wrongdoing. The Board believes that the reasoning of this case law is applicable to a situation where a licensee has brought himself under the jurisdiction of the Board, certain information has come to the Board's attention which indicates that the licensee may not be able to practice medicine with safety, and the licensee attempts to withdraw, but retain the right to apply in the future.

Overriding the Board's current belief that it has the authority to continue to act on Dr. Marrero's application is the belief that this matter should be resolved in the administrative forum not in the circuit court. Dr. Marrero has, as the First District Court of Appeal found, an adequate remedy under Section 120.57, Florida Statutes, to request a hearing and to have a hearing if the Board takes some action which affects his substantial interest. If it is Dr. Marrero's position that the Board has no jurisdiction over him anymore, he can raise that issue in the 120.57 proceedings. Since he has an adequate

- 8 -

administrative remedy, he should be restricted to the administrative forum. The Board recognizes that the District Court of Appeal has not affirmatively upheld the Board's position on the jurisdictional issue, but believes that the issue can be resolved in the administrative forum, If it is resolved adverse to Dr. Marrero, appellate review is available pursuant to Section 120.68, Florida Statutes.

Under the circumstances of this case, it was error for the trial court to grant a permanent injunction, not only for the reasons stated above and in the more thorough arguments in the brief, but also on the basis that Dr. Marrero failed to show irreparable harm. The only "irreparable" harm that Dr. Marrero can cite to is the fact that he might have to explain the license denial in Florida; however, this ignores the fact that his license has not yet been denied, and if it is denied, he can request a hearing and the Notice of Intent To Deny would not be come final unless he loses the hearing. As firmly found by the First District Court of Appeal, the harm is not irreparable because he has a chance to clear the matter up through the administrative proceeding. If Dr. Marrero prevails at the administrative level, the record would not be clouded.

Finally, Respondent respectfully requests this Honorable Court to, after review of the entire record and the briefs, discharge jurisdiction on the basis that there is no express and direct conflict between the decision of the First District Court of Appeal and the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal

- 9 -

upon which Petitioner relies on the same issue of law. The decision of the First District Court of Appeal was a decision relating to exhaustion of administrative remedies, whereas the cited decision out of the Fifth District Court of Appeal was, in fact, a review of final agency action. It did not involve a circuit court interposing itself into an administrative proceeding. Furthermore, there is not a conflict on the substantive issue of the right to withdraw an application between the two decisions on the issue of law because the Fifth District Court of Appeal decision involved an agency which had incorporated the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, including Rule 1.420, Fla.R.Civ.P., as its operating rules.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE FIRST DCA CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE BOARD DID NOT ACT WITHOUT COLORABLE STATUTORY AUTHORITY

Petitioner phrases this first issue as, "The First DCA erred when it found that the Board of Medicine retained jurisdiction over this matter after the petitioner voluntarily withdrew his licensure application." This misstates the District Court of Appeal's opinion. The DCA clearly declined to rule on whether the Board of Medicine retained jurisdiction, but did conclude that the Board's position that it retained jurisdiction to act on the application was not without colorable statutory authority that was clearly in excess of its delegated powers. (Appendix at 11) That being so, the court found, the initial decision with regard to the scope of the Board's powers should be made in the administrative setting, not by a circuit court judge.

a. Rule 1.420, Fla.R.Civ.P. does not apply to the proceeding below.

Petitioner cites and relies on Rule 1.420(a)(1), Fla.R.Civ.P., and case law interpreting that specific promulgated rule. Were Rule 1.420 applicable to proceedings before the Board of Medicine, this case would not be before this Honorable Court. However, Rule 1.010, Fla.R.Civ.P., which sets forth the scope of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, clearly specifies that they apply "to all actions of a civil nature and all special statutory proceedings in the circuit courts and county court. . . " with

- 11 -

some exceptions not relevant to this cause. What Petitioner apparently fails to grasp is that the Board of Medicine is not a circuit court or county court. Thus, except as specified by administrative rule, the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure are not applicable.

The administrative rules applicable to the Board of Medicine are set forth in Rule Chapter 21M and, pursuant to Section 120.54(10) Florida Statutes, in the Model Rules of Procedure, Rule Chapter 28, Florida Administrative Code. It is true that, pursuant to Rule 28-5.206, Florida Administrative Code, the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure relating to discovery are applicable to the Board of Medicine. However, Petitioner has cited to no Model Rule and no Board of Medicine rule which makes Rule 1.420, Fla.R.Civ.P., which is not a discoveryy rule, applicable. The presence of Rule 28-5.206 and the absence of a comparable rule with regard to voluntary dismissals establishes that there is no clear authority for Petitioner to withdraw his application for licensure without prejudice.

Respondent urges that absent some authority for the proposition that Rule 1.420, a state court rule, must be applied to the Board of Medicine's proceedings, it is arguable that the federal court rule, Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 41(a)(2), could as readily apply. Under that rule, the unilateral right to dismiss obtains only before a Motion for Summary Judgment or an answer has been filed. In fact, the case law supports a finding that an individual does not have the unilateral right to dismiss without an order of the court if an issue has been joined in other ways, such as by the holding of a hearing during which the merits of the controversy have been raised. <u>Harvey Aluminum,</u> <u>Inc. v. American Cynamid Co.</u>, 203 F.2d 105 (2d Cir. 1953), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 345 U.S. 964.

The general rule in federal court is that that Plaintiff can enter a voluntary dismissal unless the Defendant will suffer legal harm and that legal harm must be some plain legal prejudice other than the mere prospect of a second lawsuit. <u>See, Jones v.</u> <u>Securities and Exchange Commission</u>, 298 U.S. 1 (1936). In the instant case, the position of the Respondent is that it may suffer clear legal harm in that the evidence may be lost, the witnesses may disappear, and memory may be eradicated.

There is a significant factor to consider in analyzing rules of court for their applicability to the instant case. In civil lawsuits, the usual contest is between individual private interests. In state licensure proceedings, the interests to be considered are one person's individual private interest versus the public's interest. Thus, rules of court, geared to settling private disputes, must be applied in light of the different purpose they serve when considered in the context of an administrative proceeding, such as the grant or denial of a license.

The refusal to allow an applicant to withdraw an application is not without precedent in Florida. In the case of <u>Callan v.</u> Board of County Commissioners of Lee County, 438 So.2d 432 (Fla.

- 13 -

1st DCA 1983), an applicant for development approval pursuant to Chapter 380, Florida Statutes, filed a notice of withdrawal of his property from the application for development approval (ADA). The agency, the Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory Commission (FLWAC), entered an Order denying the ADA and ruled that Lee County's Motion to Strike the Notice of Withdrawal was moot. Tn other words, the FLWAC did not recognize the applicant's attempt to withdraw his application and proceeded to rule on the merits of the application. While it is true that in that case there had been a ruling on the merits prior to the filing of the notice of withdrawal, the ruling on the merits had been reversed and remanded to the FLWAC, leaving no ruling on the merits in existence at the time the notice of withdrawal was filed. The First District Court of Appeal, in reviewing the second FLWAC Order which ignored the notice to withdraw, upheld the amended Final Order and specifically construed it to include the lands which the applicant "has attempted to withdraw." Thus, this appellate court, in essence, upheld the authority of the agency to refuse to recognize the unilateral attempt to withdraw the application by the applicant.

In Jones v. Securities and Exchange Commission, the United States Supreme Court considered whether the Securities and Exchange Commission could refuse to let a registrant withdraw a registration statement filed with the Commission prior to the time the statement became effective. In that case, the Supreme Court used the test of whether there was any possibility of any

- 14 -

prejudice to the public or investors. Only upon the conclusion that abandonment of the application as of no concern to anyone other than the registrant did the court hold that the registrant's right:

to withdraw his application would seem to be as absolute as the right of any person to withdraw an ungranted application for any other form of privilege in respect of which he is at the time alone concerned. [emphasis added]

298 U.S. at 23. Respondent urges that the same test should be used in the instant case -- but a different result would obtain. Respondent contends there is a very real possibility of harm to the public and that applicant Marrero is not the only person concerned. Thus, the Board's authority to refuse to permit Marrero to withdraw his application without prejudice should be upheld.

In the Final Order from which this appeal was taken, the trial court attempted to distinguish <u>Jones</u> by emphasizing the United States Supreme Court's language regarding "assumption of such power on the part of an administrative body. . . ." Nevertheless, as acknowledged by the lower court, the Supreme Court did assert that there was an exception to the "the unqualified right to dismiss a complaint." And that exception is analogous to the exception urged by the Board: when a matter has proceeded so far that evidence has affirmatively appeared giving rise to concerns about the applicant's fitness to practice medicine. The Board has not asserted, and does not assert, that every application once filed may be withdrawn only with the concurrence of the Board. What the Board asserts, however, is that once issues have been identified and the applicant has been asked to appear before the Board and, as in this case, has appeared before the Board, the Board needs to be able to deny the request to withdraw the application if it determines that the withdrawal would not be in the best interest of the public.

Finally, Petitioner acknowledges that even where the Plaintiff does have an absolute right to voluntarily dismiss without court order, that right disappears when fraud is attempted. A review of the proceedings below before the Board of Medicine will show that Dr. Marrero "strung the Board along" by agreeing to waive the Board's ruling on his application and agreeing to return with the requested information at a subsequent meeting. Then at the October meeting, counsel for Dr. Marrero again affirmatively stated that Dr. Marrero would appear at the next meeting. Then, when it came time for the December 1986 meeting, Dr. Marrero's attorney stated that Dr. Marrero could not make the December meeting and requested to reschedule for the February meeting. Dr. Marrero was then told that if he did not appear at the February meeting, his application for licensure in Florida would be denied. It was only after assuring the Board that he would appear and that he would provide certain information that Dr. Marrero attempted to withdraw his application from consideration. And this attempt was made after he was informed that if he did not appear, his application would be denied.

At the February meeting, when Dr. Marrero did not appear, a motion was made to deny the application for licensure but to retain jurisdiction until the April 1987 meeting to give Dr. Marrero one more opportunity to appear. It was at this juncture that the circuit court action was taken to enjoin the Board from entering an order reflecting its action.

It is apparent that not only did Dr. Marrero attempt to defraud the Board when he repeatedly assured the Board that he would appear at a future meeting, but it also is clear, in reviewing the reasons given for his inability to appear, that he was deceptive as to why he could not appear. He implied at one point that he was <u>unable</u> to arrange his schedule, but later his attorney admitted that Dr. Marrero just did not want his supervisors in Pennsylvania to know that he was attempting to obtain a Florida license.

b. The Board has implied authority to deny withdrawal of the licensure application.

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